@COPY

### Case No. S228137

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### **JULIUS M. ROBINSON**

SUPREME COURT
FILED

Petitioner,

AUG 1 9 2016

v.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

G.W. LEWIS, Warden,

Respondent.

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548

Ninth Circuit Case No. 14-15125

### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

HEATHER E. WILLIAMS, Bar No. 122664
Federal Defender
\* CAROLYN M. WIGGIN, Bar No. 182732
Assistant Federal Defender
801 I Street, Third Floor
Sacramento, California 95814
Telephone: (916) 498-5700
Facsimile: (916) 498-5710
E-mail: Carolyn\_Wiggin@fd.org

### I. QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The question presented for review is:

When a California court denies a claim in a petition for writ of habeas corpus, and the petitioner subsequently files the same or a similar claim in a petition for writ of habeas corpus directed to the original jurisdiction of a higher court, what is the significance, if any, of the period of time between the earlier petition's denial and the subsequent petition's filing (66 days in this case) for the purpose of determining the subsequent claim's timeliness under California law?

Order dated May 25, 2016.

### II. INTRODUCTION

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit asked this Court to provide guidance regarding the rules governing the timeliness of a noncapital habeas corpus petition filed in a California appellate court after denial of a petition by a lower California court. In federal court, a habeas corpus petitioner generally has one year from the date a state conviction becomes final to file a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. (28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(1)(A)). This statute of limitations is tolled during the time in which a properly filed habeas corpus petition is pending in state court. (28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(2)). In the common scenario in which a California prisoner chooses to file

a series of original petitions in the California Superior Court, then in the California Court of Appeal, and finally in the California Supreme Court, there are "intervals" or "gaps" of time between denial of a petition and filing of the next petition. The United States Supreme Court has held that as long as those intervals are not so lengthy that a petition is untimely under state law, then the petitioner is entitled to tolling of the federal statute of limitations during the intervals as well as during the periods in which the petitions were pending in a California court. (Carey v. Saffold (2002) 536 U.S. 214, 225 [122] S.Ct. 2134, 2141, 153 L.Ed.2d 260]). Thus in federal court, the question of whether an interval between state petitions was so lengthy that a petition was untimely can decide whether a federal petition will be dismissed as untimely or survive for a decision on the merits.

In its 2006 decision in *Evans v. Chavis* (2006) 546 U.S. 189 [126 S.Ct. 846, 852, 163 L.Ed.2d 684], the United States Supreme Court held that when California courts deny a habeas corpus petition without giving a clear indication as to whether the petition was timely or not, the federal court analyzing tolling of the statute of limitations must "examine the delay in each case and determine what the state courts would have held in respect to timeliness." (*Id.* at p. 198). In

carrying out this task over the last decade, federal courts "have struggled to discern how California courts would rule on the timeliness issue," and have settled on varying assumptions about California's timeliness rules in the context of noncapital habeas corpus petitions filed in appellate courts. (*Robinson v. Lewis* (9th Cir. 2015) 795 F.3d 926, 930 (hereafter *Robinson*)). In the present case, the federal district court dismissed Mr. Robinson's federal petition as untimely on the basis of its conclusion that a 66-day interval between the denial of a petition by a California Superior Court and the filing of a petition raising the same claims in a California Court of Appeal was unreasonable under California law. (*Id.* at p. 934).

As argued below, California precedent, and observation of the behavior of California appellate courts, reveals that a 66-day interval between denial of a habeas corpus petition by a California court and the filing of a new petition raising similar claims in the California Court of Appeal or California Supreme Court is not considered a "substantial delay."

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Trial Court Proceedings

Mr. Robinson was tried in the Superior Court of California, Sacramento County, and convicted of two counts of attempted willful, deliberate and premeditated murder (Pen. Code, §§ 187, 664), malicious discharge of a firearm at an inhabited dwelling causing great bodily injury (Pen. Code, §§ 246, 12022.53, subd. (d)), and malicious discharge of a firearm from a motor vehicle causing great bodily injury (Pen. Code, §§ 12034, subd. (d), 12022.53, subd. (d)). In addition, the jury found true multiple gun use enhancement allegations and that all the crimes were committed with specific intent to promote criminal conduct by a street gang. (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (b)(1)). After the court found prior prison term and prior conviction allegations to be true, Mr. Robinson was sentenced to an indeterminate term of 205-years-to-life, plus a determinate term of 17 years. (People v. Robinson (Cal. Ct. App., Feb. 8, 2011, No. C061862) [2011 WL 398026, at \*1] (unpublished)).

### **B.** Direct Appeal

Mr. Robinson filed a direct appeal to the California Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District and raised numerous issues related to the trial and sentencing. On February 8, 2011, the Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction but modified the judgment to correct two sentencing errors. (*Robinson*, 2011 WL 398026, at \*16).

Mr. Robinson filed a petition for review in this Court. (*People v. Robinson*, Case Number S191254). This Court denied the petition for review on May 11, 2011. The deadline for Mr. Robinson to seek *certiorari* review with the United States Supreme Court expired on August 9, 2011. (U.S. Supreme Ct. Rules, rule 13). Mr. Robinson did not file a petition for *certiorari* in the United States Supreme Court.

### C. State Collateral Proceedings

1. Petition filed in the Superior Court of California, Sacramento County

On November 12, 2011, Mr. Robinson filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the California Superior Court for Sacramento County. (*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 933). On January 19, 2012, the Superior Court denied Mr. Robinson's petition. (*Ibid*.)

## 2. Petition filed in the California Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District

On March 26, 2012, 66 days after the Superior Court denied his petition, Mr. Robinson filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the California Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District. (*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 933). The California Court of Appeal denied the petition on April 5, 2012, with citations to *In re Steele* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 692 [10 Cal.Rptr.3d 536, 543, 85 P.3d 444, 449], and *In re Hillery* (1962) 202 Cal.App.2d 293[20 Cal.Rptr. 759, 760]. (*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 933). Because the California Court of Appeal neither cited cases regarding timeliness

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This citation likely refers to *In re Steele's* holding that "a reviewing court has discretion to deny without prejudice a habeas corpus petition that was not filed first in a proper lower court." (*In re Steele* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 692 [10 Cal.Rptr.3d 536, 543, 85 P.3d 444, 449]). Although Mr. Robinson had in fact filed a petition in the Superior Court, this may not have been clear to the Court of Appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This citation likely refers to *Hillery's* holding that a California Court of Appeal "has discretion to refuse to issue the writ as an exercise of original jurisdiction on the ground that application has not been made therefor in a lower court in the first instance." (*Application of Hillery* (1962) 202 Cal.App.2d 293, 294 [20 Cal.Rptr. 759, 760]). Again, while Mr. Robinson in fact filed his initial petition in Superior Court, this may not have been clear to the Court of Appeal.

nor discussed the timeliness of Mr. Robinson's petition, there is no indication that it concluded the petition was untimely.

## 3. Petition filed in the Supreme Court of California

On July 6, 2012, 91 days after the California Court of Appeal's decision, Mr. Robinson constructively filed a habeas corpus petition in this Court. (*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 933). It was filed by this Court on August 6, 2012. (Case No. S204534, Docket.)<sup>3</sup> This Court denied the petition without comment or citation to authority on October 24, 2012. (*Ibid.*).

### D. Federal Collateral Proceedings

### 1. Federal District Court

Mr. Robinson filed his federal petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of California on March 13, 2013. (*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 933). The federal court denied the petition as untimely based on its determination that the 66–day period between the denial of Mr. Robinson's California Superior Court petition and the filing date of his Court of Appeal petition was unreasonable, and therefore Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Available at <a href="http://appellatecases.courtinfo.ca.gov/search/case/dockets.cfm?dist=0">http://appellatecases.courtinfo.ca.gov/search/case/dockets.cfm?dist=0</a> &doc id=2021663&doc no=S204534 (last accessed July 20, 2016).

Robinson was not entitled to tolling of the statute of limitations for this period. (*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 934). The court also concluded that the 91-day period between the denial of Mr.

Robinson's California Court of Appeal petition and the filing date of his petition in this Court was unreasonable and therefore the federal statute of limitations was not tolled during this period either. (*Ibid.*).

### 2. Federal Court of Appeal

Mr. Robinson appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. That Court only considered "the question whether [Mr.] Robinson is entitled to tolling for the 66–day interval between the California Superior Court denial of habeas relief and his filing a new petition in the California Court of Appeal." (*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 934). The Ninth Circuit determined that it needed guidance from this Court as to "the permissible length of an unjustified delay," between the denial of a petition by a California court and the filing of a petition challenging the same judgment in the next highest appellate court. (*Ibid.*). It therefore certified the following question to this Court:

When a state habeas petitioner has no good cause for delay, at what point in time is that state prisoner's petition, filed in a California court of review to challenge

a lower state court's disposition of the prisoner's claims, untimely under California law; specifically, is a habeas petition untimely filed after an unexplained 66—day delay between the time a California trial court denies the petition and the time the petition is filed in the California Court of Appeal?

(*Robinson*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 928). This Court has restated the question to read:

When a California court denies a claim in a petition for writ of habeas corpus, and the petitioner subsequently files the same or a similar claim in a petition for writ of habeas corpus directed to the original jurisdiction of a higher court, what is the significance, if any, of the period of time between the earlier petition's denial and the subsequent petition's filing (66 days in this case) for the purpose of determining the subsequent claim's timeliness under California law?

Order dated May 25, 2016.

### IV. ARGUMENT

### A. Proposed Answer to Certified Question:

When a California court denies a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, and the petitioner subsequently files a habeas corpus petition containing the same or similar claims in a higher California court, the time period between the earlier petition's denial and filing of the next petition is relevant to the question of whether the petition was filed after "substantial delay." If "substantial delay" did occur, the court

will consider whether (a) there is good cause for the delay, or (b) an exception to the bar of untimeliness applies. A 66-day period between the date a lower court petition is denied and a petition raising the same claim is filed in a higher court is not a "substantial delay."

# B. Under California's "Substantial Delay" Standard, an Interval of 66 Days Between the Pendency of Habeas Corpus Petitions Is Not a "Substantial Delay."

## 1. California's Noncapital Habeas Corpus Framework and Practice

California has a unique procedural framework for postconviction collateral attacks on criminal judgments. "While most States set determinate time limits for collateral relief applications,"<sup>4</sup> California has chosen to adopt a more flexible, equity-based system. Several features of this system are relevant to the certified question.

First, all California courts have original jurisdiction in habeas corpus proceedings. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 10). Generally, after direct review of a criminal judgment is complete, noncapital habeas petitioners file their first habeas corpus petition in the Superior Court for the county in which they were convicted. While a petitioner could theoretically file an initial petition in the California Court of Appeal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Walker v. Martin (2011) 562 U.S. 307, 311.

or this Court, if the petitioner bypasses a lower California court, he or she must justify that choice.<sup>5</sup> The higher court has "discretion to refuse to issue the writ as an exercise of original jurisdiction on the ground that application has not been made therefor in a lower court in the first instance." (*In re Ramirez* (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 1312, 1316 [108 Cal.Rptr.2d 229], as modified on denial of reh'g (July 2, 2001) [quoting *In re Hillery*, supra, 202 Cal.App.2d at p. 294]). Thus rules and precedent encourage a habeas petitioner to first file a petition in the Superior Court, then, if unsuccessful, proceed to the Court of Appeal, and finally, if unsuccessful, proceed to this Court.

Second, as this Court has recognized, noncapital habeas petitioners have no incentive to delay presentation and litigation of their petitions. In *Catlin v. Superior Court* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 300, 307 [120 Cal.Rptr.3d 135, 141, 245 P.3d 860, 865], this Court reversed a decision by the Court of Appeal holding that a petitioner's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Persons proceeding *pro se* must file their petitions using Judicial Council Form MC-275, "Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus." (Cal. Rules of Court, rules 4.551 and 8.380). That form includes question number 18, which asks "If this petition might lawfully have been made to a lower court, state the circumstances justifying an application to this court." Attorneys preparing petitions are not required to use Form MC-275 but must include the information requested in MC-275 in the petition. (Cal. Rules of Court, rules 4.551 and 8.384).

postconviction motion for discovery under California Penal Code Section 1054.9 was untimely. This Court observed that

Because inmates sentenced to life imprisonment without possibility of parole are imprisoned and are seeking release, they have no incentive to engage in delaying tactics that would prolong their imprisonment. By contrast, for inmates sentenced to death, delay may postpone execution. (*See In re Clark, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 796, fn. 31, 21 Cal.Rptr.2d 509, 855 P.2d 729 ["the state has a compelling need for rules that require timely presentation of challenges to the judgments in capital cases where petitioners, unlike prisoners who are not under sentence of death, have a strong incentive for delay"].)

(Catlin, 51 Cal.4th 300, 308 n.3 [120 Cal.Rptr.3d 135, 142, 245 P.3d 860, 866]).

Third, whereas the respondent can appeal a Superior Court's grant of a writ of habeas corpus to the California Court of Appeal, in proceedings arising from a criminal case, a petitioner whose petition is denied or dismissed at the Superior Court level cannot appeal to the California Court of Appeal. (Pen. Code, § 1506). Instead, to proceed from Superior Court to the Court of Appeal or this Court, the petitioner must file an original petition in the higher court. If the California Court of Appeal denies or dismisses a petition, the petitioner can either file an original habeas corpus or a petition for review in this Court. (Pen. Code, § 1506).

Fourth, unlike indigent petitioners in capital cases,<sup>6</sup> indigent petitioners in noncapital cases have no right to appointed counsel for the purposes of state postconviction proceedings.<sup>7</sup> Scholars have recognized "the high rates of illiteracy and mental health problems that plague American prison and jail populations." (Emily Garcia Uhrig, *The Sacrifice of Unarmed Prisoners to Gladiators: The Post-Aedpa Access-to-the-Courts Demand for A Constitutional Right to Counsel in Federal Habeas Corpus* (2012) 14 U. Pa. J. Const. L. 1219, 1252). Moreover, in contrast to "those niceties of practice that lawyers take for granted," such as training, adequate time to conduct legal research, and access to complete law libraries and electronic databases,

inmates must contend with prison rules, inadequate libraries, and unresponsive or uncooperative information sources in the outside world. Thus, meeting a deadline, obtaining a witness affidavit, consulting with an expert, or acquiring a hard to find piece of research is well-nigh impossible. They have to operate in confinement, where they contend with dangerous and sometimes extreme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Cal. Gov. Code, § 68662.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Only if a Superior Court issues an Order to Show Cause, *i.e.* determines that the petitioner has made a *prima facie* showing that he or she is entitled to relief, is the Superior Court required to appoint counsel for any unrepresented person who desires but cannot afford counsel. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.551(c)(2)).

conditions that are part and parcel of the daily pressures that comprise prison life.

(Ken Strutin, Litigating from the Prison of the Mind: A Cognitive Right to Post-Conviction Counsel (2016) 14 Cardozo Pub. L. Pol'y & Ethics J. 343, 355).

Fifth, because California has not established explicit deadlines for filing noncapital habeas corpus petitions, prisoners pursuing such relief are not deemed "Priority Legal Users" by the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3122, subd. (b)(1)). Rather, they are deemed "General Legal Users" and, as such, "may receive a minimum of 2 hours per calendar week of requested physical law library access, as resources are available." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3123, subd. (b) [emphasis added]). Of course a prisoner's work schedule, prison-wide lockdowns, and the policies of an individual prison and its staff members could mean that a prisoner preparing a state habeas corpus petition receives virtually no access to the prison law library, impeding his or her ability to conduct research and make the required copies for filing a state habeas petition. (See, e.g., Bui v. Hedgpeth (C.D. Cal. 2007) 516 F.Supp.2d 1170, 1175 [describing California state prisoner's inability to access California State PrisonSacramento's prison law library to make photocopies of the habeas corpus petition he prepared to file in the California Supreme Court for a period of approximately four months]).

Finally, although most noncapital habeas petitioners do not have counsel and are imprisoned when they prepare and file petitions, the requirements for petitions filed in the California Court of Appeal and this Court are extensive. The petition must contain "a brief statement" explaining all prior applications for habeas corpus relief and "must contain of all proceedings had therein, or in any of them, to and including the final order or orders made therein, or in any of them, on appeal or otherwise." (Cal. Pen. Code, § 1475). The petition must also "include copies of reasonably available documentary evidence supporting the claim, including pertinent portions of trial transcripts and affidavits or declarations." (People v. Duvall (1995) 9 Cal.4th 464, 474 [37 Cal.Rptr.2d 259, 265, 886 P.2d 1252, 1258)). When filing the petition, a petitioner filing in the California Court of Appeal must submit the original petition and one set of supporting documents. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.380(c)). A petitioner filing in this Court must file an original and ten copies of the petition as well as two copies of supporting documents

accompanying the petition. (*Ibid.*). For all of these reasons, contrary to assumptions expressed in some federal cases, <sup>8</sup> filing an original habeas corpus petition in a California appellate court is considerably more labor-intensive than simply filing a notice of appeal.

# 2. California's "Substantial Delay" Standard Regarding the Timeliness of Habeas Corpus Petitions.

Most of this Court's opinions regarding the timeliness of habeas corpus petitions have been issued in capital cases.<sup>9</sup> However, this

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