COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JULIUS M. ROBINSON,

Petitioner and Appellant,

Case No. S228137

 \mathbf{v}_{\bullet}

SUPREME COURT

FIFD

SEP 1 6 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

G.W. LEWIS,

Respondent.

On Certification (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.548) from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, No. 14-15125

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS

Attorney General of California

GERALD A. ENGLER

Chief Assistant Attorney General

MICHAEL P. FARRELL

Senior Assistant Attorney General

ERIC L. CHRISTOFFERSEN

Supervising Deputy Attorney General

RACHELLE A. NEWCOMB

Deputy Attorney General

DAVID ANDREW ELDRIDGE

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

There is no mandatory extraordinary writ review in this Court in non-habeas cases. If a Court of Appeal denies an extraordinary writ, an original petition in this Court is improper when "a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy, in the ordinary course of law" exists. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1086; W. States Petroleum Assn. v. Superior Court (1995) 9 Cal.4th 559, 566, fn. 1 [original writ available "only" when other "ordinary" means of presentation

⁹ Cf. People v. Allenthorp (1966) 64 Cal.2d 679, 683 (if persons convicted in superior court have no right to mandatory review after Court of Appeal denies coram nobis relief, inappropriate to grant to municipal court convictees a right of mandatory review after superior court denies coram nobis relief].)

were unavailable].) Such other remedy exists—a petition for this Court's discretionary review. (Rule 8.500(a)(1).)

And the burden of such unfettered access is "staggering." (Reno. supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 453; see also id., at p. 515 [abusive exhaustion] petitions "threaten the court's ability to function"].) Such an unwieldy load cannot help but contribute to a practice to give little or no guidance as to the actual reasons for rejecting a non-capital habeas petitions. For example, in non-capital cases a most common citation from this Court is to *People v*. Duvall (1995) 9 Cal.4th 464, 474—a page listing cumulative bases for denial. (See Seeboth v. Allenby (9th Cir. 2015) 789 F.3d 1099, 1103 [that page of Duvall "discusses both procedural and substantive requirements for habeas petitioners," among them that the facts pled actually suffice "to state a claim"].) Too, it has been lamented that, if this Court adds a common citation to In re Swain (1949) 34 Cal.2d 300, federal courts still "struggle to decipher" them, after "puzzling over these same two citations for more than a decade." (Curiel v. Miller (9th Cir. July 25, 2016, No. 11-56949) F.3d [2016 WL 3974172, *12 & fn. 2] (Curiel) (conc. opn. of Bybee, J.); see Seeboth v. Allenby, supra, 789 F.3d at p. 1104, fn. 3.)¹⁰ Staggering burden should not persist without compelling reason.

The mere fact of original jurisdiction is no compelling reason for the burden. That is most prominently reflected in the United States Supreme

¹⁰ It is mild to say the federal habeas implications are unhelpful. For example, one of Swain's defects was a failure to explain substantial delay in seeking habeas relief; this Court ordered he could re-file and try to cure the defect. (*In re Swain*, *supra*, 34 Cal.2d at pp. 302, 304.) But just recently the Ninth Circuit en banc rejected *Swain* as a "case dealing with untimeliness"; rather, when *Swain* and *Duvall* are cited together, the Ninth Circuit will deem this Court to have ruled all state petitions were *timely* filed and that the entire basis to deny relief is failure to plead facts with particularity. (*Curiel*, *supra*, __ F.3d __ [2016 WL 3974172 at *3].)

Court's refusal to permit unfettered access, although that court has fundamental jurisdiction to entertain an original habeas petition. (28 U.S.C. § 1651.) But "exceptional circumstances," and a lack of possible "adequate relief" in "any other form," are needed or an original petition will not be entertained. (U.S. Supreme Ct. Rules, rule 20.4(a); *Felker v. Turpin* (1996) 518 U.S. 651, 665.) The high court noted original writ proceedings are "drastic and extraordinary" and that:

Every paper filed with the Clerk of this Court, no matter how repetitious or frivolous, requires some portion of the institution's limited resources. A part of the Court's responsibility is to see that these resources are allocated in a way that promotes the interests of justice.

(In re McDonald (1989) 489 U.S. 180, 184-185.) The high court noted other states that do not routinely permit original filings in the highest court. (Saffold, supra, 536 U.S. at p. 224.)

This Court, too, should reject unfettered original filings and so ensure this Court's "successful and convenient operation." (Superior Court v. County of Mendocino, supra, 13 Cal.4th at p. 55.) Rarely has this Court spoken on the point. But the few statements accord with a rule that a non-capital habeas petitioner should appeal to this Court's discretion via a petition for review and should not presume his claims warrant an original petition. This Court's most direct statement made the point in strong terms:

petitioner's counsel did not seek a hearing in this court following a denial of a petition for writ of habeas corpus by the Court of Appeal, but instead sought an original writ here upon which our order to show cause issued. We disapprove of such procedures. Not only is rebriefing wasteful, but published opinions remain in the books even when, as in this case, a hearing would have been granted, thus compounding the problems of courts and practitioners in researching the law.

(In re Michael E., supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 193, fn. 15, italics added.) To the extent the caselaw since then has not been entirely faithful on the point, it is

this Court's province and wise practice to re-confirm rules that bar abuse of habeas review. (E.g., *Clark*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 763 [noting absence of "clear guidelines" in cases and clarifying rules for non-abuse].) This Court should confirm that non-capital petitioners are not to resort to original petitions in this Court if a petition for discretionary review in this Court (after review in the superior court and Court of Appeal) could have been filed instead.¹¹

As for "promptly" seeking such discretionary review, the time should be brief. As noted above, after a superior court habeas denial, time to refile in the Court of Appeal should be 60 days, just as in non-habeas cases. Likewise, time to file in this Court should be as in non-habeas cases.

By rule, this Court's discretionary review must be sought within 10 days after a decision is final in the Court of Appeal, in all cases. (Rule 8.500(e)(1).) A Court of Appeal summary denial of an extraordinary writ usually is final at once. (Rules 8.387(b)(2)(A) [habeas order, absent a related appeal], 8.490(b)(1)(A) [mandate, certiorari, and prohibition].) In

The United States Supreme Court understood *In re Reed* (1983) 33 Cal.3d 914, 918, footnote two, to amount to an apparent reversal of the *In re Michael E.* language—as though in *Reed* this Court re-characterized an "original writ" in this Court as something "not 'extraordinary' " and "*interchangeable* with the petition for hearing." (*Saffold, supra*, 536 U.S. at p. 225, original italics.) But that reading does not follow. The *Reed* footnote rejected that estoppel barred a petitioner from any higher state court re-filing after a superior court denial. The footnote cannot bear the weight of an intended reversal of *In re Michael E.* to hold that original writs are interchangeable with a petition for review in this Court. Indeed, the footnote noted a petition for review is preferred, and for a reader curious to the degree of the preference, *Reed* cited the case that disapproved wasteful rebriefing via an original petition, in favor of a petition for review. (*In re Reed, supra*, 33 Cal.3d at p. 918, fn. 2, citing *In re Michael E., supra*, 15 Cal.3d at p. 193, fn. 15.)

short, a petition for review must be filed as of the tenth day after decision (or the next business day).

That is a short deadline. But it is justified by the likely lack of justification for this Court's review, and by the extreme ease in compliance. And it is ameliorated by a normal allowance for incarcerated litigants' lack of direct filing access, and by the Chief Justice's ability to accept a filing during the time the Court could grant review on it's own motion.

As justification, in the vast number of cases, review would and should be unlikely. By definition, justices of a Court of Appeal will have devoted time to review of the record and issues and found that not even one claim made out a prima facie case for relief.¹² The issues presented normally should not have been novel, and a summary unpublished decision likely will not warrant review to provide guidance in future trials. ¹³ Rather, in nearly all cases the only practical reason for a petitioner to seek this Court's discretionary review is not because this Court would or should find review warranted but because that step is needed before the petitioner can proceed to federal court.¹⁴

On direct review, that precise circumstance is accounted for via a rule that requires only a brief statement of issues and a cover noting exhaustion is the goal. (Rule 8.508.) This Court has borrowed from that direct review procedure in the capital habeas context. (*Reno*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p.

¹² Given a prima facie case, this Court requires appointment of counsel (*Clark*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 780) and the resulting order to show cause generally delays finality by 30 days (Rule 8.387(b)(1)).

Normally, novel legal issues governing the proper conduct of criminal proceedings are the province of appeals, not habeas corpus. (*Teague v. Lane* (1989) 489 U.S. 288, 304; *In re Harris* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 813, 831; *In re Moore* (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 68, 74.)

¹⁴ See *O'Sullivan v. Boerckel* (1999) 526 U.S. 838, 845-848 [state prisoner on collateral review normally must seek discretionary review in state's highest court]; *Reno, supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 489.

518.) A non-capital habeas petitioner would efficiently accomplish the same exhaustion compliance by this Court allowing him to just file a one-page letter asking for review of the Court of Appeal's denial of relief.

Even a brief perusal of the record and pleadings will, in most cases, likely affirm to this Court the wisdom of customary deferral to the Court of Appeal's resolution of case-specific mundane issues. And absent a staggering burden of mandatory re-visitation of merits in all cases, this Court (like the federal and other state high courts) may conserve its resources for identifying the truly rare case in which a Court of Appeal so seriously erred that intervention is demanded.¹⁵

As amelioration, while 10 days is a short span for prisoners, this Court has broadly held that prisoners constructively accomplish filings by placing them in the prison mail system for court delivery. (Silverbrand v. County of Los Angeles (2009) 46 Cal.4th 106, 129; In re Jordan (1992) 4 Cal.4th 116, 130 [declining "burdensome" task of divining "diligence of prisoners on a case-by-case basis" in favor of a "bright-line rule"].) Too, while the 10-day deadline (for such constructive filing) cannot be extended, the Chief Justice may accept an untimely filing within the time the Court could order review on its own motion (Rule 8.500(e)(2))—that time being 30 days from finality, absent a sua sponte extension of time (Rule 8.512(c)).

C. This Court Should Bring Clarity to Timing of Ascending State Habeas Petitions

The Ninth Circuit notes, "[b]ecause of the uncertainty surrounding timeliness, district courts spend substantial judicial resources addressing this issue." (*Robinson v. Lewis, supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 931.) For example,

¹⁵ Cf. Reno, 55 Cal.4th at p. 453 ("'It must prejudice the occasional meritorious application to be buried in a flood of worthless ones. He who must search a haystack for a needle is likely to end up with the attitude that the needle is not worth the search.'").

federal courts must allow otherwise-premature federal petitions, given a petitioner's "reasonable confusion" whether California petitions proceeded untimely from one court to another, affecting whether the federal habeas limitation period was tolled. (See *Mena v. Long* (9th Cir. 2016) 813 F.3d 907, 910; *Bonner v. Carey* (9th Cir. 2006) 425 F.3d 1145, 1149 [noting the "harshness" resulting from federal court's required post-hoc determination that limitation period was not tolled].) This Court would act in the soundest way to reduce any such confusion by holding that the normal rules, which already work so well in non-habeas cases to govern review in the Courts of Appeal and this Court, likewise apply in the habeas context.¹⁶

II. PETITIONER'S COURT OF APPEAL HABEAS PETITION WAS NOT FILED "AS PROMPTLY AS THE CIRCUMSTANCES ALLOW" AND THUS WAS UNTIMELY

The final issue is timeliness of Petitioner's habeas petition in the Court of Appeal. (*Robinson v. Lewis*, *supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 934.) It was untimely.

A. Facts

After the superior court denied the habeas petition, Petitioner delayed 66 days to mail a copy of that petition to the Court of Appeal. (*Robinson v. Lewis, supra*, 795 F.3d at p. 934; see *id.* at p. 933 & fn. 6 [discussing constructive filing].) He knew that not filing "within 60 days" risked an untimeliness finding in federal court. (*Id.*, at p. 935, fn. 10.) And there was no "good cause" why he did not file within that 60 days. (*Id.*, at p. 934 & fn. 9.)

¹⁶ This would address a concern raised by petitioner, to the effect that existence of a time certain to file helps enable prisoners to seek priority access to legal materials. (Opening Brief on the Merits (OBM), p. 14.)

B. Discussion

Under the date-certain timelines that Respondent asks this Court to confirm as California law in habeas cases, 66 days was too long. But this case does not raise the issue whether retroactive application would be unfair to Petitioner, because the above facts imply he did not file the Court of Appeal petition under any fair understanding the pre-existing general "as promptly as the circumstances allow" language.

The Ninth Circuit's quite generous "good cause" standard "turns on whether the petitioner can set forth a reasonable excuse, supported by sufficient evidence, to justify that failure." (*Blake v. Baker, supra*, 745 F.3d at p. 982.) Thus, to find Petitioner lacked good cause why he did not file within 60 days was to find he had no persuasive evidence of even a reasonable excuse not to file so promptly. In short, he did not follow the settled "basic instruction" to just file "as promptly as the circumstances allow." (See *Reno*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 460, citation and internal quotation marks omitted; *Clark*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th, at 765, fn. 5.) That is untimely.

C. Petitioner's Counters

Petitioner does not appear once to address the "basic instruction" to just file "as promptly as the circumstances allow." He accordingly does not appear to address how the facts before this Court could lead to a conclusion that his taking 66 days to mail a photocopy of the superior court petition to the Court of Appeal amounted to as promptly as his circumstances allowed. Instead, he appears to argue for an amorphous "substantial delay" standard

¹⁷ Petitioner cannot rely on a suggestion that other inmates lack law library access (OBM, p. 14), as he had such access (*Robinson v. Lewis*, supra, 795 F.3d at p. 934). As noted above, a clear instruction from this Court to do within 60 days what Petitioner waited 66 days to do—just file a copy of the superior court petition—prospectively would do much to eliminate this issue in future cases.

for re-filings in the Court of Appeal and in this Court, categorically more than 66 days and apparently up to at least 757 days. (OBM, pp. 16-33.)

Given the facts that Petitioner faces here (see Rule 8.548(b)(3)), that effort is perhaps understandable. But this Court's resources are limited. The unusual act to accept a certified issue bespeaks an interest to state a rule with clarity, to promote efficiency in litigation. Petitioner says nothing in that regard; as noted, he does not discuss his own conduct in relation to a basic rule to file as promptly as circumstances allow. All that is left is that 66 days was not as promptly as Petitioner's circumstances allowed for him to re-file in the Court of Appeal (indeed, 60 days is enough as a rule).

This Court should find the Court of Appeal filing was untimely.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to hold: (1) the timing rules for review in the Court of Appeal and in this Court in habeas cases are the same as in the wide criminal and non-criminal variety of non-habeas cases; and (2) Petitioner's Court of Appeal petition was untimely.